### IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

APPEAL NO. 2009-CA-01185

### EDWARD M. O'KEEFFE,

Plaintiff-Appellant

### **VERSUS**

### BILOXI CASINO CORP. dba CASINO MAGIC-BILOXI

Defendant-Appellee

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Harrison County,
Second Judicial District
Cause No. A2402-05-86
Hon. Lisa Dodson, Circuit Judge

# **Appellant's Brief**

Submitted by:

Robert Homes Jr.
P. O. Box 500
Gulfport, MS 39502
(228) 863-8888
fax (228) 864-4982
Miss. Bar
Attorney for Appellant

#### ORAL ARGUMENT

Appellant requests oral argument.

#### INTERESTED PERSONS

#### **JURISDICTION**

The Court has jurisdiction of this appeal from a final judgment rendered by the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial District of Harrison County, Mississippi, under Mississippi Code \$9-3-9, and Rules 3 & 4 of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure (hereinafter MRAP).

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

| PRELIMINARY   | <b>J</b> ∈ |
|---|------------|
| Request for Oral Argument   |            |
| STATEMENT OF THE CASE   |            |
| Assignment of Errors  |            |
| ARGUMENT  |            |
| Summary8  |            |
| 1. Exclusion of Dr. Bratton's testimony9  |            |
| (a) URCC Rule 4.04(A)       10         (b) Plaintiff's designation was timely       11         (c) Prejudice issues       14         (d) Rule 4.04(A) as a trap       18         (e) Rule 4.04(A) case law       22         (f) Summary       29                                  |            |
| 2. Exclusion of Dr. Bratton's report  |            |
| 3. Harmful Error31  |            |
| (a) The errors influenced the jury's verdict  |            |
| 4. Prejudicial jury instruction40   |            |
| (a) Jury Instructions 6 and 8       40         (b) The problem with Instruction 6       41         (c) The comparative negligence rule       43         (d) The "open and obvious" rule       45         (e) The Breaux and Nolan decisions       46         (f) Summary       48 |            |
| Conclusion 49   |            |
| CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE  |            |
| Exhibit 1 (Chancery Court Petition)50   |            |

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

| page   |
|--|
| STATUTES   |
| Miss. Code <b>§85-5-7</b> 5  |
| Rules  |
| Miss. Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 1 8,16,22,24                                  |
| Miss. Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 5(b)(1)                                       |
| Miss. Rules of Evidence, Rule 703 9,30-31  |
| Miss. Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court, Rule 4.04(A)                      |
| CASES  |
| Alexander v. State, 759 So.2d 411 (Miss. 2000)                                     |
| Banks v. Hill, 978 So.2d 663 (Miss. 2008)  |
| Bowie v. Montfort Jones Memorial Hospital,<br>861 So.2d 1037 (Miss. 2003)          |
| Breaux v. Grand Casinos of Miss.,<br>854 So.2d 1093 (Miss. App. 2003)              |
| Brennan v. Webb, 729 So.2d 244 (Miss. App. 1998)22-24, 37                          |
| City of Jackson v. Perry, 764 So.2d 373 (Miss. 2000)24                             |
| Estate of Deiorio v. Pensacola Health Trust, Inc., 990 So.2d 804 (Miss. App. 2008) |
| Fisher v. Deer, 942 So.2d 217 (Miss. App. 2006)45                                  |
| Gormley v. GTE Products Corp., 587 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1991)39                         |
| Griffin v. Fletcher, 362 So.2d 594, 596 (Miss. 1978)                               |
| Harris v. General Host Corp., 503 So.2d 795 (Miss. 1986)36-37, 40                  |
| International Paper Co. v. Townsend, 961 So.2d 741 (Miss. App. 2007)               |
| Johnson v. Lee, 17 So.3d 1140 (Miss. App. 2009)                                    |
| King v. Dudley, 286 So.2d 814, 816 (Miss. 1973)                                    |
| Kucza v. Stone, 230 A.2d 559 (Ct. 1967)  |

| Mayfield V. The Hairbender, 903 So.2d 733 (Miss. 2005)                         |
|--|
| McCary v. Caperton, 601 So.2d 866, 869 (Miss. 1992)45                          |
| Miss. Dept. of Wildlife, Fisheries and Parks v. Brannon, 943 So.2d 53 (2006)24 |
| Nolan v. Brantley, 767 So.2d 234 (Miss. App. 2000)                             |
| Sandefer v. State, 952 So.2d 281 (Miss. App. 2007)                             |
| Scales v. Lackey Memorial Hospital, 988 So.2d 426 (Miss. App. 2008)27          |
| Tharp v. Bunge Corp., 641 So.2d 20 (Miss. 1994)9, 45-46, 48                    |
| Thompson v. Patino, 784 So.2d 220 (Miss. 2001                                  |
| Wood v. RIH Acquisitions MS,<br>556 F.3d 274 (5 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2009)48     |

## REFERENCES

<sup>&</sup>quot;Plaintiff" or "O'Keeffe" means the Appellant
"Defendant," "Casino Magic," or "the Casino" means the Appellee
"R-#" refers to a page of the Appeal Record
"E-#" refers to an item of the Appellant's Record Excerpts
"MRCP" means the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure
"MRE" means the Mississippi Rules of Evidence

<sup>&</sup>quot;URCC" means the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court

#### ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

- 1. Whether the trial court improperly excluded Dr. Bratton as an expert witness for Plaintiff at trial.
- 2. Whether the trial court improperly excluded Dr. Bratton's report and any reference to Dr. Bratton from Dr. Dyess's testimony at trial.
- 3. Whether the trial court's instructions to the jury, in particular instruction 6, was improper.

#### UNDERLYING FACTS

This is a suit by Plaintiff-Appellant, Edward O'Keeffe, against Defendant-Appellee, Biloxi Casino Corp. dba Casino Magic (hereinafter referred to simply as CASINO MAGIC), for damages resulting from O'Keeffe's fall in the shower stall of his room at the Defendant's hotel in Biloxi on October 15, 2003.

On the date of the accident the Plaintiff and his wife were guests of the Defendant's Casino Magic Hotel in Biloxi, staying in Room 1616. While taking a shower Mr. O'Keeffe slipped and fell, severely injuring his low back.

The defects in the shower stall which resulted in the fall, and of which O'Keeffe complained, included the following:

- maintaining a shower stall that lacked any hand-holds, holdbars, or other grips to hold onto or grab hold of
- having a tile bench in the shower stall with an unnecessarily sharp edge
- maintaining a shower stall with a base that was unduly slippery
- having a shower stall with a base that had a sharp and slippery slope around the edges

- not providing a shower mat in the bathroom
- providing a sign advising that a shower mat could be requested that was either missing or too small to be easily noticed
- allowing mildew to accumulate on the base of the stall (R-1221-1222, T-503:18 et seq.)

A former employee of the Hotel testified (contrary to the Defendant's claim of no prior shower accidents) that during the period of time when she had cleaned the hotel rooms, she encountered numerous instances of guest complaints of accidents occurring in the hotel's shower stalls. (T-153:27, T-165:7) See her affidavit, Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit 5 (T-157, 159)

According to Dr. Bratton, O'Keeffe's injuries resulting from the accident included a disc injury at L2-3 and another at L4-5, along with related injuries to his spine. O'Keeffe had a "decompression diskectomy for a herniated and extruded disc," and a subsequent "secondary decompression" for the L2-3 injury. (R-783) Less than four months prior to December 8, 2008, when the case was at one time scheduled to go to trial, O'Keeffe underwent another surgery, a "hemilaminotomy" at the same L2-3 level, and a revision laminectomy at the L4-5 level by Dr. John Steck. (R-536)

Mr. O'Keeffe's general physician, Dr. James Dyess, testified by deposition. His opinions as to the nature and severity of O'Keeffe's injuries were largely based on Dyess's review of Bratton's report and a telephone conference he had with Dr. Bratton prior to his deposition, but the Circuit Judge struck all references to Dr. Bratton and his report from Dyess's deposition prior to it being read to the jury.

### **PROCEEDINGS BELOW**

Plaintiff's Complaint was filed on June 1, 2005. (R-20)
After delays due to Hurricane Katrina and its aftermath, and a
period during which the parties engaged in pre-trial discovery,
notice of the first trial setting was issued on February 15,
2007, setting the trial for December 3, 2007. (R-28) Later, due
to events described in part 1(d) of our Argument, a new trial
notice was issued on November 27, 2007 rescheduling the trial for
December 8, 2008. (R-80) On November 7, 2008, the Circuit Judge
again continued the trial -- to February 2, 2009 (Transcript of
November 7, 2008 hearing, T-I, p. 17, and Docket Note of 12/8/08)
The trial began on February 2, 2009. (T-I, p. 113)

A full review of the proceedings below is unnecessary for this appeal, the issues in which are limited to exclusion of Dr. Bratton and his expert report, and an improper jury instruction. Proceedings discussed below are related to those issues.

Preliminarily, it should be noted that the jury was selected on February 2, 2009 and the trial actually began on February 3, 2009 (T-113), the jury returned its verdict on February 9, 2009 (E-13), the Judgment appealed from was entered on February 12, 2009 (E-15), and Plaintiff's two motions for new trial were denied by Order dated June 19, 2009. (E-16)

### (a) Proceedings related to the exclusion of Dr. Bratton

Mr. O'Keeffe suffered from the injuries he received in the subject accident continuously from the date of the accident in 2003 until trial in February, 2009. During most of that time his general physician was Dr. Dyess. However, O'Keeffe was treated

and underwent several surgeries at various times by specialists for his back injury. Those specialists included Dr. M. F. Longnecker, an orthopedic surgeon in Biloxi, and Dr. James Doty, an orthopedic surgeon in Gulfport.

Well before the trial, Dr. Longnecker retired and Dr. Doty moved away from the area, and when further surgery was recommended by Dr. Dyess, O'Keeffe saw Dr. John Steck, a neurosurgeon in Louisiana. He first saw Dr. Steck on August 11, 2008, and Steck performed surgery (a laminectomy at L4-5, and a hemilaminectomy at L2-3) on O'Keeffe's lumber spine on August 19, 2008 at West Jefferson Hospital in Marrero, Louisiana.

Due to the foregoing, Plaintiff's fitness and preparation for a trial on December 8, 2008 was called into question. After a period during which Plaintiff's counsel tried unsuccessfully to obtain input from Dr. Steck (T-12) regarding his medical findings and O'Keeffe's fitness for trial, Plaintiff's counsel filed a Motion on October 30, 2008 to continue the December 8, 2008 trial (R-239, E-2) on the grounds that Plaintiff was not physically fit for trial, and that his counsel needed time to obtain Steck's report and deposition in preparation for trial.

While Plaintiff's counsel was still attempting to secure Dr. Steck's cooperation, a discussion took place between the parties' counsel, in which Defendant's counsel informed undersigned counsel that she would object to Plaintiff calling any of his experts because the experts had not been "designated" at least 60 days prior to trial (which at that time was scheduled for December 8, 2008). At that point, on October 23, 2008 - some 47

days before the December 8 trial date - Plaintiff's counsel immediately filed his first "expert designation", designating various experts including Dr. Steck, along with a Motion to Allow the experts to testify. Previously, Plaintiff's counsel had been unaware of URCC Rule 4.04(A) and its requirement for filing expert designations 60 days before trial.

At the November 7, 2008 hearing on Plaintiff's motions the Circuit Judge granted the motion to continue, rescheduling the trial for February 2, 2008 (T-17). On November 26, 68 days before the February 2, 2009 trial date, Plaintiff's counsel — with Dr. Steck still being extremely uncooperative (T-12, 14, 20, 31-34, 36-37, 42, 44, 46, 59-60, 62-64) — filed an expert designation of Dr. Bratton. (R-352, E-3-4)

It was essential for Plaintiff to call Dr. Bratton for several reasons. First, as just noted, Dr. Steck proved to be totally uncooperative. He refused to provide any report of his treatment and findings regarding Mr. O'Keeffe, and even resisted giving his deposition; the deposition was finally taken - long after the time allowed by the Court for doing so - but he refused the urgent requests of Plaintiff's counsel to meet with him beforehand to prepare for it. Second, the Defendant had its own neurosurgeon expert, Dr. Quindlen, and Plaintiff had no one other than Dr. Bratton to offer neurosurgical testimony regarding O'Keeffe's injuries and Dr. Quindlen's opinions. Third, Dr. Bratton's opinions were based on personal examination and treatment of Mr. O'Keeffe, whereas Dr. Quindlen based his

opinions solely on a review of medical records, without examining or interviewing the Plaintiff.

Despite Plaintiff's urgent need for the expert testimony of Dr. Bratton and despite Plaintiff's compliance with the substance and procedure of URCC Rule 4.04(A), the Circuit Court excluded Dr. Bratton as an expert at trial. (R-1205)

Even after the Circuit Court's initial ruling excluding Dr. Bratton - in a long and involved series of pleadings, hearings, and conferences - Plaintiff's designation of Dr. Bratton as a trial expert was continuously and repeatedly opposed by the Defendants and quashed by the Circuit Judge. Plaintiff filed several requests seeking a reversal of those rulings, with the Defendant continuing to oppose the request, and the Circuit Court holding hearings and conferences on same but continuing to uphold the Defendant's position excluding Bratton. (See T-1, T-19, R-484, R-492, R-514, R-1205, E-5, E-6, E-7, E-8, E-9)

As a result of the foregoing, at the trial in February, 2009, the Defendant had the support of its neurosurgeon expert, Dr. Quindlen, who testified live that Plaintiff did not sustain serious injury as a result of the subject accident (see Part 3(a) of our Argument below) whereas Dr. Bratton, who would have contradicted Dr. Quindlen's testimony, was not allowed to testify, and (as noted in the next section) even Dr. Dyess's references to Dr. Bratton were stricken.

### (b) Proceedings related to exclusion of Bratton report

Meanwhile, Dr. Dyess's deposition was taken to perpetuate his trial testimony. Dr. Dyess conferred by telephone with Dr.

Bratton prior to the deposition, and his deposition testimony was based in large part on his review of Dr. Bratton's report and his telephone conference with Dr. Bratton. Dyess referred to Dr. Bratton's report and his personal discussion with Dr. Bratton during his deposition. Dr. Dyess further testified in his deposition that, as a general physician, his customary practice is to confer with specialists who have treated his patients, including neurosurgeons such as Dr. Bratton, in forming his opinions and testimony regarding the patient's injuries. (R-853)

At trial, all parts of Dr. Dyess's deposition in which he mentioned Dr. Bratton, or Dr. Bratton's report, or any of Dr. Bratton's opinions - or in which even the name of Dr. Bratton was mentioned - were excluded by the Circuit Judge. (T-320)

## (c) Proceedings related to Jury Instruction No. 6

Jury Instruction No. 8 (E-12), requested by the Defendant and given by the Court, correctly stated that the jury's verdict should be for the Plaintiff if the jury found (among other things), that "the condition of the shower . . . constituted a dangerous or hazardous condition." (R-1217) Jury Instruction No. 8 would have been sufficient to properly instruct the jury regarding the liability issues in this case. However, the Court also granted Defendant's requested instruction 6 which falsely defined "hazardous condition" as follows:

"As used in these instructions, a 'danger' or 'hazardous' condition is defined as a condition which is likely . . . to cause injury to a patron who is exercising reasonable care for his own safety." (R-1268, E-11)

As discussed in part four of our Argument below, this had the effect of negating the "comparative negligence" rule, and applying the old "open and obvious" rule, preventing the Plaintiff from any recovery if he was not "exercising reasonable care for his own safety."

#### ARGUMENT

Appellants' argument will be in four parts, roughly corresponding to Plaintiff's three assignments of error: (1) The Circuit Court's exclusion of Dr. Bratton as an expert witness, (2) The Court's exclusion of any mention of Dr. Bratton or his report and opinions during Dr. Dyess's testimony, (3) the harmful nature of those two errors, and (4) The Court's improper Jury Instruction No. 6. These errors are errors of law, and the standard of review should be "de novo" review by this Court.<sup>1</sup>

#### SUMMARY

The trial Court's exclusion of Dr. Bratton as an expert for Plaintiff violated the letter and spirit of URCC Rule 4.04(A) as well as Rule 1 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure (MRCP). The trial began on February 2 or 3, 2009. (T-113) Plaintiff designated Dr. Bratton on December 2, 2008, 68 days prior to February 2, 2009. Under Rule 4.04(A), the designation of Dr. Bratton was timely, and there was no reason, even based on the technicalities of the Rule, to exclude Bratton as an expert. Equally important, his exclusion also violated the substance and spirit of the Rules in general, expressed in MRCP Rule 1, that the rules should be "construed to secure the just, speedy, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Circuit Court's rejection of Dr. Bratton and his report was a matter within that Court's "discretion," but abuse of such discretion is also a matter of law.

inexpensive determination of every action". The exclusion of Dr. Bratton as an expert is discussed in part 1 of this Argument.

The trial court, after excluding Dr. Bratton's expert testimony, should at least have allowed the jury to be told of his report, under MRE Rule 703, since Dr. Dyess relied on Dr. Bratton's opinions in giving his own testimony. This issue is covered in part 2 of the Argument.

The errors involving the exclusion of Dr. Bratton and his report were not "harmless", because they both *affected* the jury's verdict, and *caused* that verdict, as discussed in part 3.

The Court's erroneous Jury Instruction No. 6 is discussed in part 4. This case involved hazardous conditions in the shower stall in which Plaintiff fell while a guest at the Defendant's hotel. Defendant claimed that those conditions, which Plaintiff claimed were hazardous, were "open and obvious," that Plaintiff was not "exercising due care for his own safety," and that Plaintiff should be precluded from recovery for that reason alone. Although the old "open and obvious rule" was discarded and overruled by the Supreme Court in *Tharp*, supra, the Circuit Court supported the Defendant's claims by falsely instructing the jury, in Instruction No. 6, that a "hazard" exists only when the Plaintiff is not "exercising due care for his own safety."

### 1. Exclusion of Dr. Bratton as Plaintiff's expert

The exclusion of Dr. Bert Bratton as an expert for the Plaintiff was a severe blow which prejudiced the Plaintiff's entire case, and constituted a serious, unnecessary, and insupportable error on the part of the Circuit Court.

## (a) URCC Rule 4.04(A)

Dr. Bratton's exclusion was based on the Circuit Court's application (or mis-application) of Rule 4.04(A), which states:

All discovery must be completed within ninety days from service of an answer by the applicable defendant. Additional discovery time may be allowed with leave of court upon written motion setting forth good cause for the extension. Absent special circumstances the court will not allow testimony at trial of an expert witness who was not designated as an expert witness to all attorneys of record at least sixty days before trial. (emphasis added)

There was no scheduling order in this case, thus no specific time limit had been set for disclosing experts or filing expert reports. Plaintiff's undersigned counsel was unaware of the Rule's requirement for filing expert designations 60 days prior to trial, and only became aware of it some 47 days before the then upcoming trial date of December 8, 2008.

In a telephone conversation with Defendant's attorney at that time, the attorney stated she would object to Plaintiff calling any expert witnesses at trial because we hadn't filed expert designations 60 days before trial. Undersigned counsel immediately filed motions seeking to allow his experts to be designated late, or to continue the trial.

Undersigned counsel had, prior to that time, never tried a case in which no scheduling order had been issued, or in which any dispute or issue had ever arisen involving Rule 4.04(A)'s 60-day requirement for expert designations. We did know, however, that while there was a rule purportedly limiting discovery to 90 days, that rule was utterly disregarded.<sup>2</sup>

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  A good example of this is presented by this very case, in which none of the parties or the Court raised any issue regarding the timeliness of discovery, while proceeding with discovery for two years after filing of the Complaint.

## (b) Plaintiff's designation of Dr. Bratton was timely

What makes Dr. Bratton's exclusion particularly egregious is that Plaintiff actually filed his expert designation of Dr. Bratton 68 days prior to trial, thus complying fully with the letter of Rule 4.04(A). The way this happened, and the manner in which the Circuit Court justified Bratton's exclusion, serve as textbook examples of how unjust it can be when a rank technicality, rather than the substance of a rule, is allowed to control a case, without considerations of fairness and prejudice.

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