## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-CA-01185

EDWARD M. O'KEEFFE

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

BILOXI CASINO CORP. d/b/a CASINO MAGIC-BILOXI

**APPELLEE** 

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT

## BRIEF FOR APPELLEE BILOXI CASINO CORP. d/b/a CASINO MAGIC-BILOXI

## ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

#### SUBMITTED BY:

KIMBERLY S. ROSETTI (MSB KAREN K. SAWYER (MSB# Copeland, Cook, Taylor & Bush, P.A. 2781 C.T. Switzer Sr. Drive Biloxi, MS 39531 P.O. Box 10 Gulfport, Mississippi 39502-0010 Telephone (228) 863-6101 Facsimile (228) 863-9526 Counsel for Appellee Biloxi Casino Corp. d/b/a Casino Magic-Biloxi

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- Did the trial court abuse its discretion in striking Plaintiff's late-designated expert,
   Dr. Bert Bratton?
- 2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion when it excluded any reference by another physician (Dr. Dyess) to the report and opinions of Dr. Bratton, when Plaintiff's counsel attempted to circumvent the court's previous order by having Dr. Dyess testify about Dr. Bratton's report and opinions?
- 3. Was the Plaintiff prejudiced i.e., prevented from presenting a damages case by the exclusion of Dr. Bratton as a witness and/or exclusion of any reference to Dr. Bratton and his report?
  - 4. Did the trial court err in giving jury instruction number 6?

#### REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

This appeal presents legal issues that are now well-settled concerning enforcement of Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 4.04(A), which requires designation of experts at least sixty days in advance of trial. It also presents issues concerning the scope of Mississippi Rule of Evidence 703 and concerning Mississippi premises liability law. Although the legal issues presented are not novel, oral argument may be of assistance to the Court in understanding the facts of the case. Therefore, Biloxi Casino Corp. d/b/a Casino Magic-Biloxi ("Casino Magic") requests that the Court grant oral argument.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The Plaintiff, Edward O'Keeffe, fell while taking a shower in his hotel room at Casino Magic in Biloxi, Mississippi. He sued Casino Magic, alleging that the shower stall in his room presented a dangerous and hazardous condition, created by Casino Magic, and that Casino Magic was negligent

in allowing the condition to exist. After hearing all of the evidence presented by the parties, the jury rendered a verdict on special interrogatories in favor of Casino Magic, finding that Casino Magic was not negligent.

In an attempt to overturn that verdict and require a new trial, Plaintiff egregiously misrepresents the proceedings in this case, particularly the proceedings regarding expert witnesses to be called by the parties at trial. Although the Plaintiff would have this Court believe that the Circuit Judge unreasonably and arbitrarily excluded expert testimony that was timely proffered under Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 4.04(A), that is simply not the case. Plaintiff's Brief and Record Excerpts omit a full disclosure of what occurred in regard to the trial court's November 7, 2008 hearing and order regarding expert witnesses. A complete understanding of that hearing and order is essential to an understanding of why the trial court later struck Dr. Bert Bratton as an expert for the Plaintiff.

Less than sixty days before a trial setting of December 8, 2008, counsel for Mr. O'Keeffe sought to name an entirely new, never-before-disclosed vocational rehabilitation expert (Guy Walker). Plaintiff also sought leave to supplement the opinion of his previously-designated liability expert, A.K. Rosenhan, and the opinion of a previously-disclosed treating neurosurgeon, Dr. John Steck. Plaintiff asked that the trial court continue the case in order to allow the late designation and supplementations. Casino Magic opposed the requested continuance and the late designation.

On November 7, 2008, the trial court struck Plaintiff's attempted late insertion of Guy Walker into the case as a vocational rehabilitation expert. The designation was not timely under

The November 7, 2008 hearing transcript and the November 7, 2008 Order can be found in the Appellee's Record Excerpts at Tab 1 and Tab 2, respectively.

Rule 4.04(A). The trial court made clear that it was not appropriate to grant a continuance of the trial date to allow the Plaintiff to late-designate an entirely new, never-before-disclosed expert. Because Mr. Rosenhan and Dr. Steck had previously been disclosed to the defense, the Circuit Judge granted a short continuance of the trial until February 2, 2009 so that Plaintiff could supplement their opinions. The Circuit Judge made clear that the continuance was not for the purpose of allowing any further attempted designations of completely new experts for trial.

Despite the Court's ruling in that regard, Plaintiff's counsel then attempted to designate another entirely new medical expert – Dr. Bert Bratton, a retained expert in neurosurgery. Casino Magic moved to strike that designation. As required by Rule 4.04(A), the trial court considered whether there were any special circumstances justifying the further late designation. The trial court ultimately determined there were none, and Plaintiff's designation of Dr. Bratton was rightly stricken.

Plaintiff then attempted to circumvent the Circuit Judge's ruling by providing Dr. Bratton's report to a different, previously-designated medical expert (Dr. Dyess). Plaintiff sought to have Dr. Dyess testify about Dr. Bratton's opinions. The Circuit Judge prohibited this, consistent with her previous ruling that Dr. Bratton's opinions would not be admitted at trial because they were not timely designated. No special circumstances were shown to justify their admission. Plaintiff was allowed to fully present Dr. Dyess's own opinions at trial, but without reference to Dr. Bratton or Dr. Bratton's report.

Contrary to the argument in Plaintiff's brief, he was **not** left without expert testimony concerning his claimed damages. At trial, Mr. O'Keeffe presented the deposition testimony of his three treating surgeons – Dr. Longnecker (orthopaedic surgeon), Dr. Doty (neurosurgeon), and Dr. Steck (neurosurgeon). Plaintiff also presented the testimony of Dr. Dyess, the internist who was

Plaintiff's treating physician for pain management. Despite Mr. O'Keeffe's degenerative spinal disease that pre-dated his fall in the shower at Casino Magic, his physicians related his post-fall back problems and surgeries to that incident, as Plaintiff was reportedly asymptomatic prior to his fall in the shower.

The neurosurgeon presented as an expert at trial by Casino Magic – Dr. Eugene Quindlen – testified that the majority of Mr. O'Keeffe's post-fall problems were related to pre-existing degenerative spinal disease. However, even Dr. Quindlen agreed that Mr. O'Keeffe's lumbar disc rupture at L2-L3 was related to Mr. O'Keeffe's fall in the shower.

It is quite obvious from a review of the record that the jury's verdict in favor of Casino Magic constituted a finding that Casino Magic was not negligent in causing or allowing any dangerous or hazardous condition to exist in the shower in Mr. O'Keeffe's hotel room. Although Plaintiff had a designated engineering expert – A.K. Rosenhan – present and available at trial to testify regarding alleged defects in the shower, Plaintiff did not call Mr. Rosenhan to testify. The case was submitted to the jury with no evidence whatsoever from the Plaintiff that the shower was anything more than an ordinary shower, with no special hazards attendant to it. It was simply wet, as was to be expected, once Mr. O'Keeffe turned on the water. On the core issue of whether Casino Magic created and allowed the existence of a dangerous or hazardous condition, no reasonable jury could have found for the Plaintiff in this case.<sup>2</sup>

As demonstrated below, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in its rulings regarding expert witnesses and admission of evidence. The jury was correctly instructed on the relevant

Had the jury found for the Plaintiff, Casino Magic would have been entitled to a judgment notwithstanding the verdict, as there was absolutely no evidence presented to support a finding against it of liability.

aspects of Mississippi premises liability law, including comparative negligence. The judgment entered in this matter should be affirmed.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## I. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition Below

#### A. Nature of the Case

On June 1, 2005, Edward O'Keeffe sued Casino Magic, alleging that Casino Magic was liable for his October 15, 2003, fall in the shower stall of Room 1616 in the casino's hotel. He alleged, *inter alia* that (1) the shower had an extremely slippery and dangerous floor; (2) the shower had no mat in or near the stall; (3) the shower had no handle grips or other hardware installed; and (3) the seat in the shower stall, on which he hit his back when he fell, had an unreasonably sharp edge. (RV1 at 20-22.) Mr. O'Keeffe also alleged that Casino Magic failed to warn of hazards inherent in the shower stall. (RV1 at 20-21.) The fall allegedly resulted in injuries to Mr. O'Keeffe's lumbar and cervical spine, with resultant medical expenses, pain and suffering, disability, mental anguish, and lost wages. (RV1 at 21-22.) He sought \$750,000 plus attorneys' fees. (RV1 at 22.)

Casino Magic answered the complaint, denying liability to Mr. O'Keeffe. (RV1 at 23-27.) Specifically, Casino Magic denied that the shower stall presented any dangerous or hazardous condition and denied that it was negligent in allowing any such condition(s) to exist. Affirmative defenses were asserted that Mr. O'Keeffe's own actions were the sole proximate cause of the incident or, alternatively, that Mr. O'Keeffe was comparatively negligent. Additionally, Casino Magic asserted that the medical problems of which Mr. O'Keeffe complained resulted from pre-existing conditions. (RV1 at 23-27.)

The case was originally set for trial on December 3, 2007. (RV1 at 28.)

## B. Proceedings Regarding Designations of Expert Witnesses

## 1. The Parties' Initial Experts and Designations<sup>3</sup>

In interrogatory responses and an attached report served on December 14, 2005, Plaintiff disclosed A.K. Rosenhan as an engineering expert who would be called at trial to testify that the shower in Room 1616 of Casino Magic's hotel presented a dangerous and hazardous condition and that Casino Magic knowingly allowed such a condition to exist. Rosenhan's report, rendered in March 2005, stated that showers are inherently dangerous because of water and soap. Rosenhan criticized the shower stall in Casino Magic Room 1616 because it had no handles, grips, or other hardware mounted on the wall, and it characterized the edge of the seat in the shower as "sharp." (RV2 at 207-08.)<sup>4</sup>

In addition to disclosing Mr. Rosenhan as a liability expert, Plaintiff disclosed his treating physicians as experts, including Dr. M.F. Longnecker (orthopaedic surgeon), Dr. James Doty (neurosurgeon) and Dr. James Dyess (internist). (RV2 at 193-95.)

On April 26, 2006, counsel for Casino Magic notified O'Keeffe's counsel by letter that the

3

Plaintiff argues in his Brief that certain defense expert designations were improper, although he has not appealed any of the trial court's rulings against him in that regard. See Brief for Appellant at pp. 18-22. Rather, Plaintiff raises these arguments to attempt to excuse his own late designation of Dr. Bratton. In any event, the defense expert designations were proper, timely, and complete. Because of Plaintiff's assertions about defense experts, Casino Magic provides the Court with a brief history of both parties' expert designations.

In February 2005, at the instruction of Plaintiff's counsel and before suit was filed, Suzy O'Keeffe (Plaintiff's wife), returned to Casino Magic. She specifically requested and rented Room 1616 – the room in which her husband had fallen in the shower in October 2003. After renting the room – and unbeknown to Casino Magic – Mrs. O'Keeffe gave the room key to Plaintiff's counsel and A.K. Rosenhan. Mrs. O'Keeffe left the hotel, and Mr. Rosenhan stayed in the room in order to examine the shower. (RV12 at 237-41.) Rosenhan's report reflects that this inspection occurred February 10, 2005. (RV2 at 207.)

casino was being sold to Harrah's. Mr. O'Keeffe's counsel was advised that the property would not be in the possession or control of Casino Magic "in the near future." Casino Magic counsel asked that Mr. O'Keeffe's counsel notify her soon if a further inspection of the property was desired, so that she could arrange for it. (RV1 at 67.) On May 17, 2006, Casino Magic had the Room 1616 shower inspected and tested by an engineering expert, Fred Vanderbrook. (RV3 at 383.) Mr. Vanderbrook was retained as a consulting expert at that time and did not render a written report. (RV3 at 435.)

When mediation failed to resolve the case on October 2, 2007, Casino Magic obtained a written report from Mr. Vanderbrook and designated him as an expert to testify at trial. (RV3 at 364, 381-93.)<sup>5</sup> Mr. Vanderbrook was of the opinion that the shower was not hazardous or dangerous. The shower had cross-hatching embossed in the floor to prevent slippage. He performed slip resistance tests on the base (floor) of the shower and found it to be "slip resistant." (RV3 at 383-86.) There was no requirement that there be hand grips or bars, and such features would not have prevented Mr. O'Keeffe's fall once it started. The shower was simply an ordinary shower with no special hazards or dangers attendant to it. (RV3 at 383-86.) Casino Magic also designated an expert in neurosurgery, Dr. Eugene Quindlen. Dr. Quindlen was designated to testify regarding the Plaintiff's back problems and the role of Plaintiff's pre-existing conditions in the majority of those problems. (RV3 at 364-80.) Casino Magic's designation of Mr. Vanderbrook and Dr. Quindlen was timely made on October 4, 2007, sixty days before the scheduled December 3, 2007 trial per Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 4.04(A). (RV3 at 361-93.) The designation was both

5

Miss. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(4)(B) does not require disclosure of consulting experts. It does, however, require disclosure of experts once a decision is made that they are expected to be called at trial.

mailed and faxed to Plaintiff's counsel on October 4, 2007. (RV3 at 361-93.)6

Plaintiff filed a motion to continue the trial date, on grounds that he needed to reinspect the shower. (RV1 at 59-64.)<sup>7</sup> Casino Magic did not oppose continuing the trial. An Agreed Order of Continuance was entered, resetting the trial for December 8, 2008 (RV1 at 80), and Plaintiff did not further pursue the motion.

## 2. Plaintiff's Late Expert Designation Prior to the December 8, 2008 Trial <a href="Date">Date</a>

On September 30, 2008, Casino Magic was advised by Plaintiff's counsel that Mr. O'Keeffe underwent further back surgery on August 19, 2008. The surgery was performed by Dr. John Steck. (RV1 at 86.) The sixty-day pre-trial deadline for additional designations of expert witnesses was October 9, 2008. Casino Magic therefore moved the Circuit Court to allow it additional time to obtain Dr. Steck's records, present them to Dr. Quindlen (Casino Magic's neurosurgical expert), and supplement Dr. Quindlen's opinion. (RV1 at 82-86.) This motion was served by Casino Magic on September 30. It expressly stated:

Trial of this matter is set to begin December 8, 2008. Pursuant to Rule 4.04(A) of the Uniform Circuit and County Court rules, all expert witnesses must be designated at least sixty (60) days

Plaintiff represents in his Brief that Casino Magic's original expert designation was only mailed to him on the deadline – not faxed – so as to cut off several days of his time to evaluate it and to somehow "trap" him. See Brief for Appellant at pp. 19-20. This is simply untrue, as demonstrated by the fax confirmation sheet in the record showing successful facsimile transmission of the 32 page fax of Casino Magic's original expert designation to Plaintiff's counsel on October 4, 2007. (RV3 at 361.)

Although this was titled as a motion to exclude the testimony of Fred Vanderbrook, Plaintiff only asked for exclusion of Vanderbrook's testimony if the trial was not continued and if his expert was unable to reexamine the shower. (RV1 at 59-64.) Plaintiff was, in fact, able to reexamine the shower and actually obtained the entire shower base, which was entered as an exhibit at trial. (RV3 at 301; RV12 at 182; Exh. P-7)

before trial. This means that all parties in this case must designate their expert witnesses on or before October 9, 2008.

(RV1 at 82.) <sup>8</sup> In an October 7, 2008, telephone conference with defense counsel, Plaintiff agreed to an extension of time for Casino Magic to obtain Dr. Steck's records and supplement Dr. Quindlen's opinions. This was confirmed by letter. Casino Magic counsel expressly noted that the agreed extension applied solely to Dr. Quindlen's opinions. (RV1 at 91.)

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